RECEIVED

04-15-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

In re the Commitment of THOMAS L TREADWAY:

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

Case No. 2015AP0591

THOMAS L TREADWAY,

Respondent-Appellant.

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL FROM AN ORDER FOR INVOLUNTARY MEDICATION ORDERED AND ENTERED BY MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT BRANCH 22, THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY WITKOWIAK PRESIDING

RESPONDENT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

SISSON AND KACHINSKY LAW OFFICES By: Len Kachinsky State Bar No. 01018347 103 W. College Avenue #1010 Appleton, WI 54911-5782 Phone: (920) 993-7777 Fax: (775) 845-7965 E-Mail: LKachinsky@core.com

ISSUE PRESENTED

WAS THE EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE ORDER FOR INVOLUNTARY ADMINISTRATION OF PSYCHOTROPIC MEDICATION TO TREADWAY?

The trial court answered this question in the affirmative.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested as the respondent-appellant (Treadway) believes that the briefs of the parties will fully meet and discuss the issues on appeal. Publication is not warranted as this case involved the application of wellsettled case law to a unique set of facts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 16, 1999, Treadway was committed as a sexually violent person (SVP) under Chapter 980 (22). On July 30, 2012 this court affirmed the original commitment and order (48). Treadway has remained in a secure treatment facility ever since this matter was filed in 1998. Involuntary medication orders were entered on August 22, 2002 (60); September 12, 2003 (64); January 17, 2008 (100); February 11, 2009 (109); and February 10, 2010 (117). None of those orders were appealed.

The involuntary medication order that is the subject of this appeal was commenced on October 27, 2014 by the filing of a physician's report by Dr. Steven Weiler for mediation or treatment (143). A hearing was held before Circuit Judge Timothy Witkowiak on November 6, 2014 (150) which resulted in the entry of an order for involuntary medication (146; App. 101-102).

Treadway subsequently filed a notice of intent to pursue post-commitment relief and the undersigned attorney was appointed to represent him (147-2). On March 23, 2015, Treadway placed this matter before this court by filing a notice of appeal 147-1) directed at the involuntary medication order.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The only report authored by a treating physician prior to the hearing on November 6, 2014 was Dr. Stephen Weiler's report dated October 24, 2014 (143). The report began by stating in conclusory and unspecific terms that TREADWAY was mentally ill and met the criteria for involuntary administration of psychotropic medications (143: 1). It also outlined Treadway's behavior history (143: 2-3). The report did not state any efforts made to discuss with Treadway the advantages, disadvantages and alternatives to medication.

At the hearing on November 6, 2014, ASPD Melissa Fitzsimmons stated that Lisa Conway told her that morning that Treadway was not going to attend the hearing by video but wanted to contest the hearing (150: 3). Dr. Weiler confirmed that Fitzsimmons's statements were accurate (150: 4-5).

Dr. Steven Weiler, a Sand Ridge Secure Treatment Facility psychiatrist, testified that he had treated Treadway for schizophrenia for five and one half years (150: 6). Treadway had refused Olanzapine, a psychotropic medication since October 21, 2014 (150: 6-7, 12, 16-17). When Treadway did not take his medications, Treadway became irritable and aggressive (150: 8). Treadway had

3

some incidents as listed on the petition but did not have to be placed in restraints nor had he hit anyone (150: 17-18).

Weiler discussed the advantages of psychotropic medications on nearly every visit Weiler had with Treadway (150: 9-10). Treadway had never been able to understand that he had a mental illness (150: 10, 14). Treadway accepted medication when he understood it would calm him (150: 10, 14). However, as his condition deteriorated the last two or three months, Treadway lost the ability to understand the benefits and effects of taking his needed psychotropic medications (150: 10). The medication was needed to prevent serious harm to others (150: 11, 20). Treadway was not competent to refused medications due to his mental illness (150: 11, 20). Treadway had refused to speak to Weiler for the six weeks prior to the hearing (150: 13, 18). Other physicians and nursing staff had spoken to Treadway about medications in the previous month (150: 19).

Treadway had not been on a medication order for at least two years (150: 13). He had complained about side effects which led to a medication change in 2013 (150: 14-15). Until Weiler filed the request, he had been able to work with Treadway to some extent (150: 15-16).

Judge Witkowiak found that Treadway had refused to participate in the hearing (150: 21; App. 103). Treadway was a sexually violent person who needed medication and was incompetent to refuse it (150: 23; App. 105). The existing order for medication expired on February 10, 2011 (150: 24; App. 106).

Treadway was a risk of harm to himself or others if not medicated (150: 24; App.

106). Further, Treadway was substantially incapable of applying and

understanding the advantages and disadvantages and alternatives to medication

and unable to make an informed choice (150: 24; App. 106).

Further facts will be stated in the argument below.

ARGUMENT

THE RECORD WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER FOR INVOLUNTARY ADMINISTRATION OF PSYCHOTROPIC MEDICATION.

A. Standard of review.

This court must uphold the trial court's findings of fact unless clearly erroneous. Sec. 805.17(2), Wis. Stats. However, once those facts are established, the application of facts to the statute is a question of law that the Court of Appeals decides without deference to the trial court. *Secor v. LIRC*, 2000 WI App 11, ¶8, 232 Wis. 2d 519, 606 N.W.2d 175.

B. <u>Relevant statutes</u>

The patient's rights set forth in §51.61 apply to sexually violent persons committed under Wis. Stat. §980.06. Section 51.61(1); *State v. Anthony D.B.*, 2000 WI 94, ¶13, 237 Wis. 2d 1, 614 N.W.2d 435.

Sec. 51.61(1g)4, Wis. Stats. provides as follows with respect to orders for involuntary administration of psychotropic medication in Chapter 51 cases:

4. For purposes of a determination under subd. 2. or 3., an individual is not competent to refuse medication or treatment if, because of mental illness, developmental disability, alcoholism or drug dependence, and after the advantages and disadvantages of and alternatives to accepting the particular medication or treatment have been explained to the individual , one of the following is true:

a. The individual is incapable of expressing an understanding of the advantages and disadvantages of accepting medication or treatment and the alternatives.

b. The individual is substantially incapable of applying an understanding of the advantages, disadvantages and alternatives to his or her mental illness, developmental disability, alcoholism or drug dependence in order to make an informed choice as to whether to accept or refuse medication or treatment.

C. <u>The record and trial court's findings were insufficient to support the</u> trial court's order for involuntary administration of psychotropic medications.

The burden was upon the State to establish by clear and convincing

evidence that the trial court should issue an order for involuntary administration of

psychotropic medications. Sec. 51.20(13)(e), Wis. Stats. In this case, despite

ample opportunity, the State failed to sufficiently establish that Treadway was

incompetent to refuse medications.

Appellate cases regarding involuntary medication orders are instructive as to what a petitioning party is required to establish before an involuntary medication order may be entered.

In *The Matter of K.S.*, 147 Wis.2d 575, 433 N.W.2d 291, 292 (1988), the Court of Appeals held that evidence that a subject had been told of the advantages and disadvantages and alternatives to medication was sufficient when the testimony established the examining physician had discussed medications with K.S. and that there were no alternative treatments to medications available.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court provided further clarification as to the requirements for a finding of incompetency to refused psychotropic medications in 1994. *Virgil D. v. Rock County*, 189 Wis. 2d 1, 524 N.W.2d 894 (1994), required that the court's "focus must be upon whether the patient understands the implications of the recommended medication or treatment and is making an informed choice." *Id.* at 15.

The *Virgil D*. court instructed trial courts that:

In making its decision, the circuit court must first be satisfied that the advantages and disadvantages of, and the alternatives to, medication have been adequately explained to the patient. Second, the court must consider the evidence of the patient's understanding, or the lack thereof, regarding the advantages, disadvantages, and alternatives. The evidence may include the actual testimony of the patient and the examining psychiatrist. Factors which the court should take into account in reaching its decision include:

(a) Whether the patient is able to identify the type of recommended medication or treatment;

(b) whether the patient has previously received the type of medication or treatment at issue;

(c) if the patient has received similar treatment in the past, whether he or she can describe what happened as a result and how the effects were beneficial or harmful;

(d) if the patient has not been similarly treated in the past, whether he or she can identify the risks and benefits associated with the recommended medication or treatment; and

(e) whether the patient holds any patently false beliefs about the recommended medication or treatment which would prevent an understanding of legitimate risks and benefits.

Id., 189 Wis. 2d at 14-15, 524 N.W.2d at 899-900.

After Virgil D. decision, the legislature amended the statute to permit a

petitioner to seek an involuntary medication order if the individual was *incapable*

of applying an understanding of the medication and the alternatives to the

individual's mental illness to make an informed choice as to whether to accept or

refuse the medication. 1995 Wis. Act 268.

Very recently, the Wisconsin Supreme Court explained the importance of

the right of an individual to decline psychotropic medications:

¶ 42 An individual's right to refuse unwanted medical treatment "emanates from the common law right of self-determination and informed consent, the personal liberties protected by the Fourteenth Amendment, and from the guarantee of liberty in Article I, [S]ection 1 of the Wisconsin Constitution." *Lenz v. L.E. Phillips Career Dev. Ctr.*, 167 Wis.2d 53, 67, 482 N.W.2d 60 (1992); *see also Cruzan v. Dir.*, *Mo. Dep't of Health*, 497 U.S. 261, 278, 110 S.Ct. 2841, 111 L.Ed.2d 224 (1990) (competent individuals have a protected Fourteenth Amendment liberty interest in refusing unwanted medical treatment).

¶ 43 Competent individuals also retain a "'significant' liberty interest in avoiding forced medication of psychotropic drugs." State v. Wood, 2010 WI 17, ¶ 25, 323 Wis.2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63 (citing Washington v. Harper, 494 U.S. 210, 221, 110 S.Ct. 1028, 108 L.Ed.2d 178 (1990)). "The forcible injection of medication into a nonconsenting person's body represents a substantial interference with that person's liberty." Harper, 494 U.S. at 229, 110 S.Ct. 1028. However, while a patient has "an interest in remaining free from bodily intrusion," the state has an interest in administering treatment to a patient pursuant to a commitment order. Mary C. McCarron, Comment, The Right to Refuse Antipsychotic Drugs: Safeguarding the Mentally Incompetent Patient's Right to Procedural Due Process, 73 Marg. L.Rev. 477, 484 (1990) (footnote omitted). Current mental health statutes reflect a balance between treating mental illness and protecting the individual and society from danger on the one hand, and personal liberty of the individual on the other.

Outagamie Cnty. v. Melanie L., 2013 WI 67, ¶¶42-43, 349 Wis.2d 148, 833 N.W.2d 607.

Evidence required to meet the requirement for clear and convincing

evidence for involuntary administration of psychotropic medications includes the

following:

A person subject to a possible mental commitment or a possible involuntary medication order is entitled to receive from one or more medical professionals a reasonable explanation of proposed medication. The explanation should include why a particular drug is being prescribed, what the advantages of the drug are expected to be, what side effects may be anticipated or are possible, and whether there are reasonable alternatives to the prescribed medication. The explanation should be timely, and, ideally, it should be periodically repeated and reinforced. Medical professionals and other professionals should document the timing and frequency of their explanations so that, if necessary, they have documentary evidence to help establish this element in court.

Melanie L. ¶ 67.

Further,

[T]he phrase "substantially incapable" means, to a considerable *degree*, a person lacks the ability or capacity to apply an understanding of the advantages and disadvantages of medication to his or her own condition...."applying an understanding" requires a person to make a connection between an expressed understanding of the benefits and risks of medication and the person's own mental illness... [I]t is the responsibility of medical experts who appear as witnesses for the county to explain how they probed the issue of whether the person can "apply" his or her understanding to his or her own mental condition. The person's history of noncompliance in taking prescribed medication is clearly relevant, but it is not determinative if the person can reasonably explain the reason for the noncompliance. For both the patient and the medical professional, facts and reasoning are nearly as important as conclusions..... The plain language of the statute gives a person the right "to refuse medication or treatment," provided the patient is competent to make that choice. Consequently, the court's determination should not turn on the person's choice to refuse to take medication; it should turn on the person's ability to process and apply the information available to the person's own condition before making that choice.

Melanie L,. ¶ ¶ 70, 71, 75, 78.

provided explanation or if that explanation included disadvantages and alternatives

In this case, it is not clear when Dr. Weiler provided the statutorily

as well as the advantages (150: 9-10). Weiler testified that others at Sand Ridge

attempted to persuade Treadway to take psychotropic medications but Weiler provided no specificity as to whom and when (150: 19). There was no documentation of the same as required by *Melanie L*. The record also did not clearly establish that Treadway was unable to make a connection between the advantages and disadvantages of medication and Treadway's mental illness. Treadway had been able to understand side effects of medication he was taking and the benefits of it (150: 10, 14).

The State presented no evidence as to alternatives or lack of the same to psychotropic medications. Dr. Weiler did not testify as to *why* Treadway's negative opinion of medications should be disregarded other than Treadway's mental illness and deteriorating behavior. There was no evidence of patently false beliefs regarding the medication.

No reasonable inferences could be drawn from the record that Dr. Weiler engaged Treadway in a timely discussion about recommended medications that demonstrated that he was incompetent to refuse them. The testimony and documentation (or lack of the same) in the record was insufficient. The balance of the *Virgil* factors did not demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that an involuntary medication order could be authorized.

The State was only able to establish that Dr. Weiler recommended the involuntary medication order without following the mandate of <u>Virgil D</u>. and *Melanie L*. that there be sufficient evidence of inability to make an informed choice. The State simply put on its evidence in a "perfunctory" manner that was

11

insufficient to support an involuntary medication order, Melanie L. ¶ 94 As the

Wisconsin Supreme Court stated:

Attention to detail is important. A county cannot expect that a judge concerned about a person with mental illness will automatically approve an involuntary medication order, even though the person before the court has chosen a course of action that the county disapproves.... When a county disapproves of the choices made by a person under an involuntary medication order, it should make a detailed record of the person's noncompliance in taking prescribed medication and show why the noncompliance demonstrates the person's substantial incapability of applying his or her understanding of the medication to his or her mental illness.

Melanie L. ¶ 94, 99.

Because the record did not demonstrate the required proof by clear and convincing evidence, the trial court did not have the authority to require involuntary administration of psychotropic medications to Treadway and its order should be reversed.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the undersigned attorney requests that this court reverse the order authorizing the involuntary administration of psychotropic medications to Treadway and remand this matter to the trial court with instructions to vacate the same.