### **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-23-2015

## COURT OF APPEAL SOF WISCONSIN

### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015AP591

In re the commitment of Thomas Treadway:

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

THOMAS TREADWAY,

Respondent-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A NOVEMBER 6, 2014, ORDER FOR INVOLUNTARY MEDICATION ENTERED BY THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, CASE NO. 98-CI-17, THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY WITKOWIAK, PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF PETITIONER-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

WINN S. COLLINS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1037828

Attorneys for Petitioner-Respondent

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The circuit court has the authority to issue an order for involuntary medication to a sexually violent person committed under Wis. Stat. ch. 980. Here, the court issued such an order after determining that Thomas L. Treadway—committed under Wis. Stat. ch. 980—was incompetent and dangerous. Treadway now appeals. But he only challenges the court's incompetency determination—not the independent basis for involuntary medication under dangerousness. Should this Court affirm the court's involuntary medication order?

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication because the briefs adequately present the issue and because the case involves only the application of the law to the facts.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State generally agrees with the statement of the case and facts provided by Treadway. (Resp't-Appellant Br. 2-5.)<sup>1</sup> But Treadway misrepresents the record when he states that a report from Dr. Stephen J. Weiler "did not state any efforts made to discuss with Treadway the advantages, disadvantages and alternatives to medication." (*Id.* at 3.) In the report and request for a hearing, Dr. Weiler affirmed that he had "explained to the subject the advantages and disadvantages and alternatives to accepting medication or treatment." (R. 143:2.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

This Court should affirm the circuit court's involuntary medication order. The circuit court had the authority to issue the order because Treadway is a sexually

¹The State does not agree with Treadway describing a report from Dr. Stephen J. Weiler as "conclusory and unspecific." (Resp't-Appellant Br. 3.) Such editorializing by Treadway is argument—not a statement of the case. *Compare* Wis. Stat. § 809.19(1)(d) (statement of case), *with id.* § 809.19(1)(e) (argument). And Treadway acknowledges that the report "outlined Treadway's behavior history" so even he concedes that his characterization of the report is not accurate. (Resp't-Appellant Br. 3.)

violent individual committed under Wis. Stat. ch. 980. See State v. Anthony D.B., 2000 WI 94, ¶ 1, 237 Wis. 2d 1, 614 N.W.2d 435. The circuit court has such authority when either (1) "the individual is not competent to refuse medication," or (2) "a situation exists in which the medication . . . is necessary to prevent serious physical harm to the individual or others." Wis. Stat. § 51.61(1)(g)3., cited in Anthony D.B., 237 Wis. 2d 1. Here, the circuit court based its order on both grounds after making incompetency and dangerousness determinations. (R. 146:1-2; 150:22-24.) The circuit court was correct on both accounts, either of which was a sufficient basis for its order.

- I. This Court should affirm the circuit court's involuntary medication order because Treadway was not competent to refuse medication.
  - A. The circuit court had the authority to order involuntary medication based upon Treadway's incompetency.

The circuit court found that Treadway "is substantially incapable of applying an understanding of the advantages, disadvantages and alternatives to his mental illness in order to make an informed choice as to whether to

accept or refuse psychotropic medication or treatment."
(R. 146:2.)

There are two ways a circuit court may find an individual incompetent. Matter of Mental Commitment of Melanie L., 2013 WI 67, ¶¶ 54-55, 349 Wis. 2d 148, 833 N.W.2d 607. An individual is not competent when, "because of mental illness . . . and after the advantages and disadvantages of and alternatives to accepting the particular medication or treatment have been explained to the individual," either (1) "[t]he individual is incapable of expressing an understanding of the advantages and disadvantages of accepting medication or treatment and the alternatives," or (2) "[t]he individual is substantially incapable of applying an understanding of the advantages, disadvantages and alternatives to his or her mental illness ... in order to make an informed choice as to whether to accept or refuse medication or treatment." Wis. Stat. § 51.61(1)(g)4.; see Melanie L., 349 Wis. 2d 148, ¶¶ 53-55 (two standards).

Here, the circuit court found incompetency under the second standard (R. 146:2). Thus, the circuit court correctly understood the case to be about its authority to order involuntary medication upon a finding of incompetency. See Wis. Stat. § 51.61(1)(g)3. Having made such an incompetency determination, the circuit court had the authority to order involuntary medication.

# B. This Court reviews a circuit court's incompetency determination under the clearly erroneous standard.

This Court reviews the circuit court's incompetency determination by applying the clearly erroneous standard of review. *Melanie L.*, 349 Wis. 2d 148, ¶¶ 38, 81; *State v. Garfoot*, 207 Wis. 2d 214, 216-17, 225, 558 N.W.2d 626 (1997); *Kainz v. Ingles*, 2007 WI App 118, ¶ 21, 300 Wis. 2d 670, 731 N.W.2d 313.

The clearly erroneous standard applies because incompetency "presents a unique category of inquiry in which the circuit court is in the best position to apply the law to the facts." *State v. Byrge*, 2000 WI 101, ¶ 4, 237 Wis. 2d 197, 614 N.W.2d 477. An incompetency

determination is "primarily factual." *Garfoot*, 207 Wis. 2d at 225. And "[t]he trial court is in the best position to decide whether the evidence of competence outweighs the evidence of incompetence." *Id.* at 222. Even though the circuit court ultimately applies a legal test, its determination is functionally one of fact. *Id.* So an appellate court adheres to the clearly erroneous standard. *Byrge*, 237 Wis. 2d 197, ¶¶ 32-45.

Treadway misstates the standard of review in his brief to this Court. Treadway properly states that this Court "must uphold the trial court's findings of fact unless clearly erroneous." (Resp't-Appellant Br. 5 (citing Wis. § 805.17(2)).) But Treadway then argues for de novo review—relying on a case that involved the appellate review of a commission decision on a worker's compensation claim (Id. (citing Secor v. LIRC, 2000 WI App 11, ¶ 8, 232 Wis. 2d 519, 606 N.W.2d 175).) Treadway fails to recognize incompetency determination that is an significantly different from a worker's compensation claim.

This should review the circuit court's Court incompetency determination under the clearly erroneous standard. Under the standard, this Court gives great deference to the circuit court and should not set aside the court's determination unless it is contrary to the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. Fryer v. Conant, 159 Wis. 2d 739, 744, 465 N.W.2d 517 (Ct. App. 1990). As a legal question intertwined with factual findings, this Court should accord great weight deference to the circuit court's determination. See Clean Wis., Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 2005 WI 93, ¶ 135, 282 Wis. 2d 250, 700 N.W.2d 768. This Court should accept the inferences drawn from the circuit court even though this Court may draw other reasonable inferences. Noll v. Dimiceli's, Inc., 115 Wis. 2d 641, 644, 340 N.W.2d 575 (Ct. App. 1983).

C. This Court should affirm the involuntary medication order because the circuit court's incompetency determination was not clearly erroneous.

This Court should find that the circuit court's incompetency determination was not clearly erroneous. The

circuit court reasonably found that Treadway was not competent to refuse medication. (R. 150:22-24.)

The circuit court based its incompetency findings on the evidence it received from Dr. Weiler. (R. 150:5-20, 22-24.) evidence sufficiently showed that, because schizophrenia, Treadway was substantially incapable of making an informed choice whether to accept or refuse medication. (R. 150:6-11, 20.) The evidence further showed that Dr. Weiler and other medical personnel discussed with Treadway the advantages and disadvantages of medication, including considerations of alternative dosing levels of different medications. (R. 150:6-7, 9-10, 12-15.) The circuit court's incompetency determination was not erroneous—the court grounded its findings in the testimony and evidence received from the psychiatrist who had treated Treadway for schizophrenia for the past five and-a-half years. (R. 150:6, 22-24.)

Treadway fails to show that the circuit court's incompetency determination was clearly erroneous.

Treadway focuses his argument on whether the record

sufficiently showed that he received an explanation of the advantages and disadvantages of and alternatives to accepting medication. (Resp't-Appellant Br. 10-12.) But the record shows that Dr. Weiler discussed the advantages of medication treatment during nearly every visit he had with Treadway. (R. 150:9-10.) Dr. Weiler also explained that he discussed with Treadway alternative dosing levels and different options for medication, which prompted a change in from Haloperidol to Olanzapine. (R. 150:6-10.) And even when Treadway refused to continue such discussions with Dr. Weiler, two primary care physicians engaged in such discussions with him. (R. 150:18-19.) Treadway does not explain why it was clearly erroneous for the circuit court to base its decision on such evidence.

This Court should affirm the circuit court's order for involuntary medication. This Court has explained that whether an individual was advised of the advantages and disadvantages of treatment or alternatives to medication is an evidentiary matter. *In Matter of Mental Condition of K.S.*, 147 Wis. 2d 575, 578, 433 N.W.2d 291 (Ct. App. 1988).

So this Court accepts the circuit court's determinations under the clearly erroneous standard, including the reasonable inferences drawn from the evidence. *Id.* The evidence received—and the reasonable inferences drawn from the evidence—show that Treadway received multiple explanations about the advantages and disadvantages of and alternatives to medication treatment. This Court should affirm the involuntary medication order based upon the circuit court's incompetency determination.

- II. This Court should affirm the circuit court's involuntary medication order because a situation existed in which the medication was necessary to prevent serious physical harm.
  - A. The circuit court had the authority to order involuntary medication based upon Treadway's dangerousness.

The circuit court found that Treadway posed "a current risk of harm to himself or to others if not medicated." (R. 146:2.) Thus, the circuit court correctly understood the case to be about its authority to order involuntary medication upon a finding of dangerousness. See Wis. Stat. § 51.61(1)(g)3.

circuit court had the authority to The involuntary medication to prevent serious physical harm. Following a commitment, Treadway did not have the right to refuse medication when a situation existed in which the medication was necessary to prevent serious physical harm to himself or others. See Wis. Stat. § 51.61(1)(g)3. In Anthony D.B., the supreme court observed that Wis. Stat. § 51.61(1)(g) does not specifically set forth the procedure for an involuntary medication order. 237 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 28. But the court concluded that Wis. Stat. §§ 51.20(16) and 51.61(1)(d) provide a mechanism for a circuit court to conduct an involuntary medication review. Id. ¶ 33. So the circuit court had the authority to order involuntary medication based upon Treadway's dangerousness.

Here, the circuit court found dangerousness. (R. 146:2; 150:24.) Having made such a determination, the circuit court had the authority to order involuntary medication.

B. This Court reviews a circuit court's dangerousness determination under the sufficiency of the evidence standard.

This Court reviews the circuit court's dangerousness finding under the sufficiency of the evidence standard. Cf. State v. Randall, 2011 WI App 102, ¶¶ 11-13, 336 Wis. 2d 399, 802 N.W.2d 194 (standard for dangerousness finding under Wis. Stat. § 971.17). Under this standard, the appellate court gives deference to the circuit court's "determination of credibility and evaluation of the evidence and draw[s] on its reasoning and adopt[s] the trial court's reasonable inferences." Id. ¶ 14.

C. This Court should affirm the involuntary medication order because sufficient evidence supported the circuit court's uncontested dangerousness determination.

This Court should find that there was sufficient evidence in support of the circuit court's dangerousness determination. And further find Treadway has forfeited any argument to the contrary.

The circuit court reasonably found that a situation existed in which medication was necessary to prevent harm.

(R. 146:1-2; 150:22-24.) The circuit court explained its

findings within the evidence it received from Dr. Weiler. (R. 150:22-24.) Dr. Weiler testified that Treadway was noncompliant with dosage levels for months and then had stopped taking medication entirely. (R. 150:7-8, 12, 22.) Dr. Weiler testified that Treadway has schizophrenia with a long history of being very aggressive toward others when undertreated or not medicated. (R. 150:6-8.) Dr. Weiler testified that Treadway's condition had deteriorated over the past two to three months leading to escalated psychotic behavior, manifesting in a recent homicidal threat. (R. 150:10-11, 20.) Dr. Weiler testified that Treadway "very much needs the medication for his own and other's safety." (R. 150:13.) Such evidence sufficiently showed medication was necessary to prevent serious physical harm. (R. 150:7-8, 10-11, 13, 20, 22-24.)

Treadway does not appeal the circuit court's ruling on dangerousness. Treadway's notice of appeal generally states that he appeals the involuntary medication order. (R. 147:1.) And Treadway similarly states the issue broadly. (Resp't-Appellant Br. 1.) But, in his argument, Treadway

does not address the court's dangerousness finding—his brief only addresses the court's incompetency determination. (*Id.* at 5-12.)

Treadway therefore forfeits his right to appeal the dangerousness determination. See State v. Ndina, 2009 WI 21, ¶ 29, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612 (forfeiture); State v. Pettit, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 647, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992) (undeveloped arguments). And he cannot make such an argument for the first time in his reply brief. Roy v. St. Lukes Med. Ctr., 2007 WI App 218, ¶ 30 n.6, 305 Wis. 2d 658, 741 N.W.2d 256.

This Court may properly affirm the circuit court's order for involuntary medication based the on dangerousness ruling alone. Again, the circuit court based its order upon two determinations: (1) incompetency; and (2) dangerousness. (R. 146:1-2; 150:22-24.) determination provides an independent basis to issue an order under Wis. Stat. § 51.61(1)(g)3. because the statute states that a patient does not have the right to refuse medication when either incompetent

dangerous. See In Matter of Mental Condition of Virgil D., 189 Wis. 2d 1, 10, 524 N.W.2d 894 (1994). An incompetency determination does not consider dangerousness. See State v. Wood, 2010 WI 17, ¶¶ 81-86, 323 Wis. 2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63 (Abrahamson, C.J., dissenting). Just as a dangerousness determination does not consider competency. See Sherry v. Salvo, 205 Wis. 2d 14, 29 n.8, 555 N.W.2d 402 (Ct. App. 1996) (dangerous discussion with no competency discussion). Even assuming for the sake of argument that the circuit court erred in its incompetency determination, Treadway does not contest the circuit court's independent dangerousness determination. So this Court should affirm.

\* \* \* \* \*

Here, the circuit court issued an involuntary medication order after determining that Treadway was incompetent and dangerous. Treadway only challenges the court's incompetency determination—not its independent dangerousness determination. This Court should affirm the involuntary medication order because the circuit court's incompetency determination was not clearly erroneous. And

the circuit court's uncontested dangerousness determination provides an independent basis for the order.

### **CONCLUSION**

This Court should affirm the circuit court's order for involuntary medication.